THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE WORKERS COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Appellate Case No. 2018-002087

Dale Brooks, Employee,

Appellant,

v.

Benore Logistic Systems, Inc.,
Employer, and Great
American Alliance Insurance
Company, Carrier,

Respondents.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Robert T. Usry, Esquire
HOLLAND & USRY, P.A.
101 West St. John Street
Suite 206
Post Office Box 5506
Spartanburg, SC 29304
(864) 582-0416
(864) 585-9499 (f)
Attorney for Appellant

RECEIVED
APR 12 2019
SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. IS THE FULL COMMISSION'S DECISION SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE WHEN APPELLANT'S MEDICAL EVIDENCE SUPPORTS CAUSATION AS REQUIRED BY THE REPETITIVE MOTION STATUTE?
2. DID THE FULL COMMISSION MAKE AN ERROR OF LAW IN CONCLUDING THE SINGLE COMMISSIONER'S ORDER DID NOT CONTAIN THE CAUSATION FINDING AS REQUIRED BY LAW?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In this workers' compensation case, Appellant Dale Brooks alleged a repetitive trauma injury to his low back and right leg. (R. p. 31). Respondents denied the claim. A hearing was held on September 7, 2017, before the Workers' Compensation Commission Single Commissioner, Gene McCaskill. On December 27, 2017, Commissioner McCaskill issued an order finding Appellant met his burden of proving a compensable repetitive trauma injury to his low back affecting his right leg. (R. p. 28, Finding of Fact 14; R. p. 29, Conclusion of Law 3). The Commissioner awarded Appellant temporary total disability benefits for the period January 19, 2017 through June 28, 2017, as well as prior and future causally-related medical treatment. R. p. 29, Finding of Fact 20, Conclusion of Law 4-5.

Respondent timely appealed Commissioner McCaskill's Order to the Full Commission. After the parties served briefs, the Full Commission held oral argument. On October 26, 2018, the Full Commission issued its order reversing the Single Commissioner's order. *See* Full Commission Order at R. pp. 7-13.

On November 19, 2018, Appellant served the Notice of Appeal on Respondents and the Workers' Compensation Commission.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Court of Appeals held in Burnette v. City of Greenville, 401 S.C. 417, 737 S.E.2d 200 (Ct. App. 2012), cert den. (2014):

The Administrative Procedures Act (“APA”) provides the standard for judicial review of decisions by the Commission. Under the APA, this Court can reverse or modify the decision of the Commission if the substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced because the decision . . . is clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record. [citing S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(5)(d), (e) (Supp.2011)]. This Court can also reverse the Commission if its ruling is affected by an error of law.

The Commission is the ultimate factfinder in workers' compensation cases. As a general rule, this court must affirm the findings of fact made by the Commission if they are supported by substantial evidence. Substantial evidence is that evidence which, in considering the record as a whole, would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusion the Commission reached. The possibility of drawing two inconsistent conclusions from the evidence does not prevent the Commission's finding from being supported by substantial evidence.

Id. at 401 S.C. 417, 426, 737 S.E.2d 200, 205 (internal citations and quotations omitted except as noted).

The findings of the Commission will be set aside if unsupported by substantial evidence. Hicks v. Piedmont Cold Storage, Inc., 335 S.C. 46, 515 S.E.2d 532 (1999).

FACTS

Evidence from the hearing before the Single Commissioner. Appellant worked for Respondent Benore Logistics System, Inc. (Benore) as a switcher truck operator for approximately five months before he alleges he suffered the repetitive trauma injury. (R. p. 155, lines 4-7). Appellant’s duties basically required him to use a truck to move trailers or sea containers across a huge yard at the BMW manufacturing plant, which he estimated to be 2 miles wide. (R. p. 87, lines 14-24). He worked 12 hour shifts. (R. p. 88 , lines 6-7).

To do his job, Appellant drove a “switcher truck,” which wasn’t set up for driver comfort

like a tractor-trailer. (R. p. 89 line 23- R. p. 90, line 9). According to Appellant, the tractor trailer is made for long distance driving comfort and has air-ride in the suspension, cab, and seat. Id. In contrast, the switcher truck is designed to move heavy trailers. (R. p. 92, lines 2-5). A switcher truck is a rigid frame truck with a spring-ride; it only has one seat. (R. p. 90, lines 6-7; R. p. 91, lines 4-5). Appellant described the switcher truck ride as “extremely rough.” (R. p. 90, lines 10-11).

Appellant testified in detail about the process he underwent to do his job. (R. p. 92, line 21- R. p. 97, line 3):

1. When summoned by computer for a pickup, he stepped up on his truck by climbing 3 steps, using a handle. (R. p. 92, line 24- R. p. 93, line 14).
2. That took him to a platform, where he went through a small door to enter the truck, requiring him to stoop. (R. p. 93, lines 14-19).
3. Once he maneuvered himself to sit down in the small cab, he drove for the pickup. (R. p. 93, line 19- R. p. 94, line 1).
4. On arrival at the trailer, he twisted his body to look out the back door by turning his torso all the way to the rear. (R. p. 94, lines 1-3). This meant his knees remained pointed straight out while his back twisted all the way around. Id. at lines 10-13. Appellant responded he performed this twist 5 times per trailer move. Id. at lines 14-23.
5. Once he backed the truck up, he used a lever to raise the trailer. (R. p. 95, lines 6-10).
6. Then he got up. Because of the cramped cab space and lack of grab handles, getting up required him to use his legs and back to get up and hoist himself up, then twist around to get to the door. (R. p. 95, lines 10-11, line 20- R. p. 96, line 5).

7. Next, he walked through the door, and hooked the trailer to the truck. This required him to bend over at least 90 degrees for a few minutes. (R. p. 95, lines 11-19).
8. After hooking up the trailer, he got back in the truck. (R. p. 96, lines 6-9). He pulled the truck up 4 to 5 feet. Id. at line 10.
9. Then he got up again, went back out, walked to the rear of the trailer and closed the trailer doors. (R. p. 96, lines 11-13).
10. Then he returned to the cab to drive it to the designated area. (R. p. 96, lines 13-15).
11. Once he arrived at the drop off, he reversed the whole process. (R. p. 96, line 16- p. 97, line 3).

The whole process took about 15 minutes. (R. p. 97, lines 5-8). On average, Appellant completed the process 45 times a shift. Id. at lines 9-11. Appellant agreed his job description required him to do up to 50-60 trailer moves a shift. (R. p. 98, lines 3-9, *citing* R. p. 323). Appellant agreed he got in and out of the truck 225 times on an average shift. (R. p. 98, line 14- R. p. 99, line 10). When asked if the repetitive part of his job was getting in and out of the truck, Appellant responded every aspect of his job was repetitive. (R. p. 154, line 7- R. p. 155, line 3).

Appellant testified about sea containers as “a switcher operator’s worst nightmare.” (R. p. 99, lines 17-22). The reason is, salt and contaminants the containers pick up on their ocean voyage “make it exceptionally hard to open the doors.” Id. at line 22- R. p. 100, line 5. The trailer is higher off the ground and has a ceramic seal on the back, which has to be cut with a 2-foot bolt cutter held over the switcher operator’s head. (R. p. 100, lines 5-11). After that, the operator must open four latches on the back of the trailer. Id. at lines 12-14. Appellant related, “Most of the time, it took two people to open the doors.” Id. at lines 17-19. But if no one could help, time restraints required Appellant to do it alone. Id. at line 20- R. p. 101, line 2. And

sometimes the drivers bringing the containers in didn't slide the axles. (R. p. 101, lines 6-9). This required him to pull four pins underneath the trailer by stooping and pulling each with all his weight, since the job sometimes required moving the pins out from under a trailer weighing 40,000 pounds. Id. at line 9 - R. p. 102, line 3. Appellant moved six to ten sea containers a shift. (R. p. 102, lines 18-22). But sometimes he did it all night. (R. p. 102, lines 4-9).

Appellant described the pace of his job as "extremely fast." (R. p. 103, lines 1-4). If you didn't respond to the computer's demand for pickup within 15 minutes, "you caught some grief about it by your supervisor." Id. at lines 4-8.

Appellant agreed he began to feel symptoms of his injury around early January 2017. (R. p. 103, lines 9-16). Both thighs burned, as did his lower back. Id. at lines 17-21. It started mid shift and by the end of it, became "pretty unbearable." Id. at lines 22-24. On January 17, he began to feel work caused the injury when it felt like somebody stabbed him in his leg as he stepped into his truck. Id., line 25- R. p. 104, line 8. It hurt all the way to his foot. (R. p. 104, lines 2-4). That was the last day he worked. Id. at lines 15-16.

Appellant described telling every provider he got hurt from "getting in and out of the truck so much." (R. p. 111, lines 9-13).

Appellant testified counsel referred him to Dr. Loudermilk. Appellant testified Dr. Loudermilk's treatment helped him "dramatically." (R. p. 114, lines 21-22). At the time of the hearing, Appellant was not being treated by Dr. Loudermilk because he couldn't afford it. (R. p. 108, lines 13-22).

The Single Commissioner reviewed Appellant's medical records. *See* R. p. 23-25. On January 20, 2017, Appellant reported to Oconee Memorial Hospital Emergency Room for his injuries. Appellant stated he got in and out of trucks about 150 times per shift. (R. p. 287).

On February 1, 2017, Appellant reported to WorkWell. (R. p. 295). He reported low back pain climbing into the truck. He also reported feeling sharp low back pain while stepping into the truck and pulling himself in.

The doctor ordered an MRI. The report states, "in his case specifically, I think it best to get the imaging first." (R. p. 300).

WorkWell records reflect Appellant left the appointment at 9:36am. (R. p. 303). Two minutes later, the doctor's office received notice the claim was denied. (R. p. 304).

Appellant reported to Dr. Loudermilk on May 1. (R. p. 306). Appellant reported climbing up and down stairs approximately 150 times a day, moving a minimum of 30 trailers per shift. He reported "switching trucks in and out multiple times during the day, opening and closing doors, bending and stooping, and climbing ladders." *Id.* Dr. Loudermilk ordered an MRI. (R. p. 307). Appellant got the MRI June 27. (R. p. 317). On July 7, Dr. Loudermilk concluded the MRI showed a disc protrusion at L4-5, which Dr. Loudermilk deemed the source of his symptoms. (R. p. 314).

Defense ergonomic report. Respondents hired ergonomist Glen Adams to review Appellant's job and to issue an ergonomics report. (R. p. 8, Finding of Fact 5, *citing* R. p. 339). The report is at R. p. 339-345. Adams reviewed Appellant's deposition, his medical records, and visited the job site where Appellant worked. (R. p. 8, at Finding of Fact 6, *citing* R. p. 339-345). Adams found that, contrary to Appellant's testimony, Appellant would be able to enter and exit the cab of the truck without having to bend over. *Id.*, *citing* R. p. 344 and R. p. 147-148. He further found that the job tasks of a switcher do not require lifting that exceeds any recommended safe lifting limits. *Id.*, *citing* R. p. 345. Finally, Adams concluded the job involved two activities with forward bending (connecting the harness and entering and exiting the cab); however, neither

of those tasks involved elevated risks for the development of lumbar musculoskeletal disorders.

Id., *citing* R. p. 344-345.

Single Commissioner's order. The Commissioner viewed the evidence as a whole, noting only one medical opinion existed – Dr. Loudermilk's. (R. p. 28, Finding of Fact 12-14). The Commissioner concluded, "As such, it must be given great weight." Id. The Commissioner found Dr. Loudermilk affirmed in a questionnaire from Appellant's counsel, "[T]he repetitive activities of [Appellant]'s job, including but not limited to going up and down stairs, getting in and out of a truck, opening and closing doors, bending and stooping and climbing ladders, most probably cause[d] low back pain with the right leg radiculopathy[.]" (R. p. 27, Finding of Fact 8, *citing* R. p. 315). The Single Commissioner also found the doctor affirmed, "[T]he work injuries from repeated work activities above cause[d] an L4-5 disc protrusion shown on [Appellant]'s MRI of 6.27.17." Id. Finally, the Single Commissioner found Dr. Loudermilk "confirms these repeated work activities caused Appellant's low back pain with right leg radiculopathy." Id.

Turning to the ergonomics report, the Single Commissioner deemed it "instructive, but it does not control." (R. p. 28, Finding of Fact 13). The Single Commissioner also noted "Dr. Loudermilk indicates that he has read the report and it does not alter his opinion." Id., *citing* R. p. 316.

The Single Commissioner concluded Appellant suffered a compensable repetitive trauma injury to his low back affecting his right leg. (R. p. 28, Finding of Fact 14). Specifically, he found "a direct causal relationship between the repetitive acts and the employment." Id. He based the finding "on the entire record." Id. Additionally, he held, "Under § 42-1-172 and Murphy v. Owens Corning, 710 S.E.2d 454 (Ct.App 2011), medical evidence established a causal

connection between [Appellant]’s repetitive activities in regular employment duties and the injury.” R. p. 29 , Conclusion of Law 3.

Full Commission reversal. The Full Commission reversed the Single Commissioner, concluding Appellant failed to prove a repetitive trauma injury under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-172. (R. p. 9 - 10, Finding of Fact 11). First, the Commission held there was no finding of fact by the Single Commissioner that Appellant’s job activities were repetitive as required under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-172(B). Id.

Second, the Commission noted Respondents presented ergonomics evidence that the job was not sufficiently repetitive and noted Appellant presented no ergonomics evidence (R. p. 8, Finding of Fact 7-8; R. p. 9-10, Finding of Fact 11). The Commission found Respondents’ “unbiased” ergonomics report “entitled to greater weight than [Appellant]’s testimony on that issue.” R. p. 9-10, Finding of Fact 11.

Third, the Full Commission found Dr. Loudermilk’s opinion entitled to less weight than the ergonomics report because the doctor appeared to rely on “Appellant’s own self-serving statements as to the alleged repetitive job activities,” and a description of them from Appellant’s attorney in questionnaires. (R. p. 10, Finding of Fact 12, *citing* R. p. 309-310, 315-316). The Full Commission found it “especially troubling” because the record from Appellant’s initial visit with Dr. Loudermilk showed Appellant reporting symptoms “since around January 3, 2017,” but at the hearing Appellant testified he did not tell Dr. Loudermilk “a specific date.” Id., *citing* R. p. 306; R. p. 135, lines 19-22. Additionally, the Full Commission noted the lack of evidence Dr. Loudermilk reviewed Appellant’s job description. (R. p. 10 at Finding of Fact 12). The Full Commission concluded Dr. Loudermilk “assume[d] the job is sufficiently repetitive.” Id. It noted Appellant’s attorney’s questionnaires to Dr. Loudermilk “never asked whether those job

activities are sufficiently repetitive.” *Id.*, citing R. p. 309.

The Full Commission concluded “the only ergonomic evidence in the record found that his activities were not repetitive.” (R. p. 11, Finding of Fact 13). In giving greater weight to the ergonomics report, the Commission made several findings. Ergonomist Adams went onsite to observe the job duties of a switcher. *Id.*, citing R. p. 339. Adams concluded the observed job duties “do not meet any of the criteria above for elevated risks to the low back/lumbar spine.” *Id.*, citing R. p. 343. The Full Commission went on, “[H]e noted that connecting/disconnecting the trailer harness would only involve 60.5 seconds of forward bending of the spine per hour.” [citing R. p. 343-344]. Next, Adams found [Appellant] would be able to sit upright in the cab, and the task of entering/exiting the cab would require “minimal forward bending.” *Id.*, citing R. p. 344. Accordingly, the Full Commission concluded “neither medical nor ergonomics evidence supports a finding that Appellant’s job activities as a “[s]witcher” were repetitive as required under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-172(B).” *Id.* at p. 11, Finding of Fact 15.

ARGUMENTS

I. BECAUSE APPELLANT’S MEDICAL EVIDENCE SUPPORTS CAUSATION AS REQUIRED BY THE REPETITIVE MOTION STATUE, THE FULL COMMISSION’S DECISION IS NOT SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE.

Repetitive trauma injuries are specifically defined under the workers’ compensation statute. The statute also defines the analysis of proving a repetitive trauma injury. Here, Appellant satisfied both aspects of the law, requiring reversal for lack of substantital evidence to support the Full Commission’s denial of benefits.

A. Repetitive trauma injury law.

“Repetitive trauma injury” means an injury which is “gradual in onset and caused by the cumulative effects of repetitive traumatic events.” S.C.Code Ann. § 42-1-172(A).

A repetitive trauma injury is compensable only under the explicit terms of § 42-1-172. *Id.* at sub-§(A). “Indeed, section 42-1-172(C) commands that the ‘[c]ompensability of a repetitive trauma injury must be determined *only* under the provisions of this statute.’” Michau v. Georgetown Cty. ex rel. S.C. Ctys. Workers Comp. Tr., 396 S.C. 589, 594, 723 S.E.2d 805, 807 (2012) (internal citations omitted).

Specifically, a repetitive trauma injury is covered under workers’ compensation “only if it is established by medical evidence that there is a direct causal relationship between the condition under which the work is performed and the injury.” S.C.Code Ann. § 42-1-172(D).

“Medical evidence” means an expert opinion “stated to a reasonable degree of medical certainty, documents, records, or other material that is offered by a licensed and qualified medical physician.” S.C.Code Ann. § 42-1-172(C).

B. The Full Commission’s decision erroneously elevates the ergonomics report to outweigh medical evidence, which subverts the legal standard.

In determining whether Appellant’s injury was repetitive, the Full Commission accorded Respondent’s ergonomics report more weight than Appellant’s doctor’s medical conclusions. (R. p. 11, Finding of Fact 14). The Full Commission also noted Appellant presented no ergonomic evidence. (R. p. 8, Finding of Fact 8). Likewise, the Full Commission gave more weight to the ergonomic report’s “unbiased opinion” than Appellant’s testimony the job was repetitive. (R. p. 9-10, Finding of Fact 11). The Full Commission’s unjustified over-reliance on the ergonomics report was unsupported by substantial evidence.

1. Respondent’s ergonomics report does not satisfy the required legal standard for causation.

The Full Commission elevates the ergonomics report to what it can never be: medical evidence on causation, as required by law. In repetitive injury cases, the law makes clear only

doctors can supply evidence of causation. S.C.Code Ann. § 42-1-172(B) and (C). Strikingly, in mandating how causation is proven, the statute makes no mention of ergonomics. “What a legislature says in the text of a statute is considered the best evidence of the legislative intent or will. Therefore, the courts are bound to give effect to the expressed intent of the legislature.” Hodges v. Rainey, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000).

Thus, the statute makes clear ergonomics does not determine whether a job is sufficiently repetitive to cause a repetitive motion injury. Medical evidence does. S.C.Code Ann. § 42-1-172(A)-(C). The Supreme Court holds parties to the strict principle that repetitive motion cases are governed by the terms of § 42-1-172, as evidenced by Michau v. Georgetown Cty. ex rel. S.C. Ctys. Workers Comp. Tr., 396 S.C. 589, 723 S.E.2d 805 (2012). There, the Full Commission denied compensability of the appellant’s repetitive trauma injury, based in part on a medical exam obtained by the respondents. However, the respondent’s medical examiner did not state his opinion to a reasonable degree of medical certainty. Appellant’s appeal centered on whether that evidence was admissible in light of § 42-1-172(C)’s requirement that medical opinions be stated to a reasonable degree of medical certainty. The Supreme Court made clear the plain terms of the statute prevail.

The Michau Court first proclaimed, “[C]ompensability of a repetitive trauma injury must be determined *only* under the provisions of [42-1-172].” Id. at 396 S.C. 589, 594, 723 S.E.2d 805, 807 (2012) (internal citations omitted).

Next, the Court held, “The plain reading of the statute requires that [medical] ‘opinion or testimony’ must be ‘stated to a reasonable degree of medical certainty.’” Id. at 396 S.C. 589, 595, 723 S.E.2d 805, 808 (2012). The Court then deemed respondent’s medical opinion “an ‘opinion or testimony’ that must be ‘stated to a reasonable degree of medical certainty’” under §

42-1-172. *Id.* at 396 S.C. 589, 596, 723 S.E.2d 805, 808 (2012). In reversing the Full Commission, the Supreme Court held the opinion inadmissible because it did not conform to the statutory standard.

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