THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Appellate Case No. 2018-002087

Dale Brooks, Employee, Appellant,

v.

Benore Logistics System, Inc., Employer, and Great American Alliance Insurance
Company, Carrier, Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

RECEIVED

APR 26 2019

SC Court of Appeals

Daniel B. Eller
ELLER TONNSEN BACH, LLC
1306 South Church Street
Greenville, SC 29605
Phone: (864) 236-5013
Fax: (864) 312-4191

Attorney for Respondents

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

Appellant: “He found that . . . [in] Finding of Fact Number 14 and in the second line [the single commissioner] says, ‘Based on the preponderance of evidence before me . . . I must conclude [Appellant] suffered a compensable repetitive trauma injury to his low back affecting his right leg.’”

(R. p. 66, ll. 2-11 (*quoting* R. p. 28)).

The Appellate Panel went on to further press Appellant to identify a specific finding of fact by the single commissioner that the “Switcher” position was “a repetitive job” however, aside from the general finding in Finding of Fact #14 that the injury was compensable, Appellant was unable to identify such a finding. (R. pp. 66-67); (R. p. 28). Respondents respectfully assert this exchange is telling of the fact that there was no such finding by the single commissioner because there was no evidence—aside from Appellant’s self-serving testimony—the “Switcher” position was repetitive. Thus, this argument is also without merit.

B. Appellant’s argument that the Appellate Panel created a requirement that the claimant must present an ergonomics report to prove his job is repetitive is not supported by the plain language of section 42-1-172.

Appellant next asserts that he presented sufficient medical evidence to prove a repetitive trauma injury and “[r]equiring anything further creates a legal requirement for workers with repetitive motion injuries to pay for their own ergonomics report[, which is] . . . a requirement that does not exist.” (App. Br. pp. 18-19). Respondents note that this argument was not raised to or ruled upon by the Appellate Panel. *See generally* (R. pp. 1-13, 32-70). Therefore, we believe it is unpreserved for appellate review. *See Smith*, 369 S.C. at 256, 631 S.E.2d at 279 (“Only issues raised and ruled upon by the [Appellate Panel] are cognizable on appeal.”).

Regardless, Respondents note that the Appellate Panel’s denial of benefits here does not create a requirement that the claimant present an ergonomics report to prove a repetitive trauma injury. Rather, as the Appellate Panel noted during the March 9, 2018 oral argument regarding section 42-1-172, “there has to be some independent evidence about the particular job itself being repetitive, and . . . it does [not] have to be by a doctor, sometimes it is if the doctor has the job description and can make a finding.” (R. p. 64, ll. 8-12). Appellant, however, failed to prove that

the “Switcher” job was sufficiently repetitive through either medical or ergonomic evidence. Consequently, the denial of his repetitive trauma claim was proper.

C. The ergonomics report by Glen Adams provides substantial evidence the “Switcher” job was not sufficiently repetitive as required under section 42-1-172.

Respondents next assert the ergonomics report issued by Glen Adams provides substantial evidence that the “Switcher” position was not sufficiently repetitive. As previously stated, Appellant testified his injury occurred from “getting in and out of the truck so much” (R. p. 111). Specifically, he stated his job duties as a “Switcher” required him to climb steps, stoop, bend over, and twist his body. (Hr. Tr. pp. 93-95, 111).

However, Glen Adams reviewed Appellant’s deposition, his medical records, and visited the job site where Appellant worked as a “Switcher.” (R. pp. 339-45). Adams found that Appellant would be able to enter and exit the cab of the truck without having to bend over. (R. p. 344). He further found that the job tasks of a “Switcher” do not require lifting that exceeds any recommended safe lifting limits. (R. p. 345). Finally, Adams concluded the job involved two activities with forward bending (connecting the harness and entering and exiting the cab); however, neither of those tasks involved elevated risks for the development of lumbar musculoskeletal disorders. (R. pp. 344-45). Respondents respectfully assert that the ergonomics report provides substantial evidence that the job tasks of a “Switcher” are not sufficiently repetitive for a repetitive trauma injury.

Appellant also asserts in his brief that the ergonomics report does not make his injury “impossible.” (App. Br. p. 14). He also asserts it would “be different if the [Adams] report said no risk of injury. But it doesn’t.” *Id.* (emphasis in original). Respondents assert that whether the employer / respondent is able to prove an alleged injury is “impossible” is irrelevant. The Act

does not require the Respondents to disprove the existence of an injury. *Cf. Clade v. Champion Labs.*, 330 S.C. 8, 11, 496 S.E.2d 856, 857 (1998) (stating “[t]he Claimant has the burden of proving facts that will bring the injury within the workers' compensation law, and such award must not be based on surmise, conjecture or speculation”). Appellant bears the burden of proving a compensable work-related injury. *Id.* Furthermore, Appellant’s attempt to place the burden on Respondents is even less appropriate considering he, as the appellant in this appeal, has the burden of proving reversible error by the factfinder. *See McCall v. IKON*, 380 S.C. 649, 659–60, 670 S.E.2d 695, 701 (Ct. App. 2008) (stating the burden is on the appellant to demonstrate reversible error). Thus, Appellant’s argument that the Glen Adams ergonomics report does not make his alleged work injury impossible is without merit and irrelevant for purposes of this appeal.

Similarly, Appellant also asserts in his brief that Respondents should have deposed Dr. Loudermilk. (App. Br. pp. 14-15). Again, Respondents do not bear the burden of disproving the existence of an injury by accident or repetitive trauma injury. *See Clade*, 330 S.C. at 11, 496 S.E.2d at 857.

Next, Appellant argues the Appellate Panel erred in “attack[ing] the credibility of Dr. Loudermilk with a hairsplitting detail” regarding the date of onset because, pursuant to *Schulknicht v. City of North Charleston*, 352 S.C. 175, 178, 574 S.E.2d 194, 195 (2002), repetitive trauma injuries do not require a specific date of injury. (App. Br. p. 16). Respondents do not dispute the holding in *Schulknicht*; however, this argument is a red herring. The Appellate Panel’s finding cited by Appellant—that the records from Appellant’s initial visit with Dr. Loudermilk indicate he reported his back and leg pain began since around January 3, 2017, but at the hearing, Appellant testified he did not give Dr. Loudermilk a specific date—was used to show the conflicting statements Appellant made. (R. p. 10). Appellant testified at the hearing that he did

not give Dr. Loudermilk a specific date of onset. (R. p. 135). The probative value of this evidence is Appellant disputed the records of when he reported the date of onset to Dr. Loudermilk. Thus, as previously explained, this evidence was used as an issue of credibility. They were not used directly to show Appellant failed to prove a repetitive trauma injury; rather, they were used to show Appellant's testimony lacked credibility. In other words, the probative value was that Appellant's testimony changed from medical visits, to his deposition, to the hearing. The Appellate Panel—unlike the single commissioner—recognized the discrepancies in Appellant's testimony and made the reasonable decision to accord it less weight than other evidence. *See Shealy v. Aiken Cnty.*, 341 S.C. 448, 455, 535 S.E.2d 438, 442 (2000) (“The final determination of witness credibility and the weight to be accorded evidence is reserved to the [Appellate Panel]. It is not the task of this Court to weigh the evidence as found by the [Appellate Panel].”). Again, Respondents respectfully assert these were decisions for the factfinder to make and there is more than substantial evidence to support their decision.

Next, Appellant argues the Appellate Panel erred in relying on the fact that Dr. Loudermilk did not review a job description for a “Switcher” to justify its denial of benefits because “the law does not require” that the physician review the employee's job description. (App. Br. p. 17). Again, this was one of many factors the Appellate Panel identified as grounds for finding Appellant failed to meet his burden of proving a repetitive trauma injury. Although Appellant does not agree with this decision, that is not a ground for reversal on appeal when a reasonable person could reach the conclusion the Appellate Panel made. *See Dozier*, 411 S.C. at 293, 768 S.E.2d at 232 (“Although we may have found differently from the Appellate Panel, when conflicting medical evidence is presented, this court must not substitute its judgment for that of the fact finder, which in this case was the Appellate Panel.”). Therefore, Respondents

assert the Appellate Panel was well within its authority to rely on the fact that Dr. Loudermilk did not review the job description and assign his opinion less weight as a result.

D. Appellant’s appeal requests the Court of Appeals to reverse the Appellate Panel’s finding regarding Appellant’s credibility.

As previously stated, the Appellate Panel made the following finding of fact:

[W]e find the unbiased opinion of Glen Adams that [Appellant]’s job duties were not sufficiently repetitive *is entitled to greater weight than [Appellant]’s testimony* on that issue.

We likewise find that *Dr. Loudermilk’s opinion is entitled to less weight* because he appears to have relied on [Appellant]’s own self-serving statements as to the alleged repetitive job activities of a “Switcher” as well as a description of those job activities from [Appellant]’s attorney included in questionnaires.

(R. pp. 9-11 (*citing* R. pp. 309-310, 315-16)).

Thus, the Appellate Panel found Appellant’s description of the incident lacked credibility. Respondents assert substantial evidence supports this finding and therefore it should not be disturbed on appeal. *See Shealy*, 341 S.C. at 455, 535 S.E.2d at 442 (“The final determination of witness credibility and the weight to be accorded evidence is reserved to the [Appellate Panel]. It is not the task of this Court to weigh the evidence as found by the [Appellate Panel].”).

Notably, at the hearing before the single commissioner, Appellant testified that he told every medical provider that his back injury occurred from him “getting in and out of the truck so much . . .” (R. p. 111). However, this allegation was not supported by some of the medical records from his initial treatment. In a questionnaire from Appellant’s first visit with St. Francis Workwell, under the box entitled, “Description of Accident,” Appellant states “experiencing lower back pain sitting

is the worst.” (R. p. 333). He does not describe an injury by accident or repetitive trauma injury. Moreover, in another questionnaire from Workwell entitled, “Worker’s Compensation Initial Medical Questionnaire,” Appellant is asked whether he has “recently had” various symptoms including back or neck pain. (R. p. 331). The questionnaire then states: “If yes, please explain.” Appellant checks the box “Yes” and states “One time I felt [extreme] pain while sitting and I could not hold my urine-right leg pins needles after sitting right leg-loss of use for a few min.” *Id.* Notably, when Appellant did report an alleged cause of his back pain, he reported a one-time incident on January 17, 2017 when he was entering his truck rather than the repetitive trauma injury he now alleges. (R. p. 295). Thus, Appellant’s testimony that he told every provider his back injury was from “getting in and out of the truck so much” was not supported by some of the medical records and, as such, indicates Appellant’s allegation is less than accurate. (R. p. 111).

There were other examples where Appellant’s testimony was inconsistent with the medical records from his treatment. Specifically, Appellant testified records from Greenville Health System dated January 20, 2017 that indicated his back had been hurting for one week were “wrong.” (R. p. 138 (*citing* R. p. 329)). Moreover, Appellant testified he did not give his doctor, Dr. Eric Loudermilk, a specific date of onset of his symptoms, yet the record from his initial visit notes the date of onset as “around January 3, 2017.” (R. p. 135 (*citing* R. p. 306)).

There was other evidence that showed Appellant lacked credibility. Following his alleged accident, Appellant and his supervisor, Joe Slattery, exchanged several text messages. (R. pp. 336-38). In these text messages, Appellant initially told Slattery he was out of work due to the flu. (R. p. 336). The next day Appellant reported that he would not be reporting to work on Thursday January 19, 2017, but that he hoped to work the next day. *Id.* He stated that green tea, Theraflu,

and rest had helped. *Id.* Finally, in his third text message, and, apparently after knowing for over two weeks of an alleged work accident, he reported:

I need to go to Benore's doctor. Every day my back has been aching from in and out of the truck. . . . Today I barely can get out of bed. I know I have the flue (sic) but my back is much more painful to where it's super stiff. Advil doesn't seem to help[.] I need to at least get it checked out.

Plus I f[oun]d out [B]enore never processed my health insurance.

Id.

Later that day, Appellant again indicated what he was experiencing "may be the flue (sic)." (R. p. 337). The texts show that Appellant finally mentioned a work-related injury to his back after he believed Benore had "dropped the ball" on his health insurance. (R. pp. 336-37). Thus, Appellant's delay in reporting a work-related event despite admitting to knowing that the policy was to report accidents immediately demonstrates this allegation is not credible.

Finally, Respondents note that Appellant's delay in reporting a work-related incident is even more concerning due to his employment history as it shows Appellant knew to report a work injury immediately. Appellant worked as a safety director for a trucking company, and he testified the company policy for the trucking company is that employees are to report accidents "as soon as it occurred," which is standard for the trucking industry. (R. pp. 212-14, 216-17). Moreover, Appellant was also aware of Benore's policy to immediately report work-related accidents because a Benore employee had previously reported a work-related accident to him. (R. pp. 215-17). Furthermore, Appellant alleged he had suffered two work-related accidents in the first month of his hiring at Benore, and, when asked if he reported those accidents, Appellant responded, "of

course” and further stated he reported them “immediately” to his supervisor, Donna, because “[t]hat was the procedure.” (R. pp. 233-35).

Despite this background of knowledge and experience with work-related accidents, Appellant delayed in reporting his latest alleged work-related accident to Benore and only did so after believing Benore had not processed his health insurance. Appellant’s credibility is important in this case because the only evidence Appellant put forth that his job was repetitive as required under section 42-1-172 was his own testimony.² Based on the aforementioned examples where Appellant’s testimony and/or explanation was inconsistent with the other evidence, the Appellate Panel decided to place more weight on other evidence. Respondents assert that the Appellate Panel was within its authority to do so as the factfinder in this case. *See Thomas*, 412 S.C. at 9, 770 S.E.2d at 187 (“In workers' compensation cases, the Appellate Panel is the ultimate finder of fact”). Since substantial evidence supports the Appellate Panel’s finding to assign more weight to the Glen Adams report than either Dr. Loudermilk’s opinion or Appellant’s testimony, Respondents respectfully assert that the finding should not be disturbed. *See Lark*, 276 S.C. at 136, 276 S.E.2d at 307 (stating an appellate court should affirm the decision of the Appellate Panel unless it is clearly erroneous in view of the substantial evidence of the whole record).

E. *Michau v. Georgetown County* is distinguishable from the current case

Appellant next relies on *Michau v. Georgetown County*, 396 S.C. 589, 723 S.E.2d 805 (2012) in arguing that section 42-1-172 only requires the claimant to present medical evidence of causation, and because claimant did that, the Appellate Panel erred by requiring him to present ergonomics evidence that his job was sufficiently repetitive. (App. Br. pp. 10-12). Respondents initially note that this particular argument was not presented to the Appellate Panel and is

² Appellant alleges Dr. Loudermilk opined that the “Switcher” job was sufficiently repetitive; however, Respondents dispute this argument as noted herein. (App. Br. p. 18).

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